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“A wind blew west over the Atlantic, driving before it a frothy foam or scum. It blew this scum, which was evil and unclean, upon the shore of the American continent, and the scum took form. The form that it took was that of a white man—of many white people, both men and women; wherever the scum lodged on the shore of the continent, it took this form.”


—TENSKWATAWA, the Shawnee Prophet, to his followers1


“The being within, communing with past ages, tells me that once, nor until lately, there was no white man on this continent; that it then all belonged to red men, children of the same parents, placed on it by the Great Spirit that made them, to keep it, to traverse it, to enjoy its productions, and to fill it with the same race, once a happy race, since made miserable by the white people who are never contented but always encroaching.


“The way, and the only way, to check and to stop this evil, is for all the red men to unite in claiming a common and equal right in the land, as it was at first, and should be yet; for it never was divided but belongs to all for the use of each. For no part has a right to sell, even to each other, much less to strangers—those who want all and will not do with less.”


—TECUMSEH in council with Gov. William Henry Harrison2





Preface


Gov. William Henry Harrison of the Indiana Territory was amazed. In a decade on the frontier implementing a fiercely acquisitive government land policy, he had met with scores of Indian chiefs, some defiant, others malleable. Never, however, had he encountered a native leader like the Shawnee chief Tecumseh, the man he considered his principal opponent in the fight for the Northwest, as present-day Ohio, Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, and Wisconsin were then known. After a contentious council with Tecumseh in July 1811, Harrison penned a remarkable tribute to him, arguably the most effusive praise a government official ever offered an American Indian leader. Tecumseh had parried Harrison’s every verbal thrust, eloquently defending his refusal to relinquish what Harrison considered “one of the fairest portions of the globe, [then] the haunt of a few wretched savages.”


There was nothing remotely wretched about Tecumseh, however. As Harrison told the secretary of war, “The implicit obedience and respect which the followers of Tecumseh pay to him is really astonishing, and more than any other circumstance bespeaks him one of those uncommon geniuses which spring up occasionally to produce revolutions and overturn the established order of things. If it were not for the vicinity of the United States, he would, perhaps, be the founder of an empire that would rival in glory that of Mexico or Peru.” Harrison marveled at the vigor with which the Shawnee chief pursued his dream of an Indian union. “No difficulties deter him. His activity and industry supply the want of letters. For four years he has been in constant motion. You see him today on the Wabash and in a short time you hear of him on the shores of Lake Erie or Michigan, or on the banks of the Mississippi, and wherever he goes he makes an impression favorable to his purposes.”


Harrison’s testimonial encapsulates the talents of this passionate and indefatigable co-architect, with his younger brother Tenskwatawa, of the greatest pan-Indian confederation the westering American Republic would ever confront. Their movement reached across nearly half of what was then the United States, from the icy upper reaches of the Mississippi River to the steamy bottomlands of the lower Alabama River. No other Indian leaders enjoyed such a broad appeal, and none would ever pose a graver threat to American expansion than Tecumseh and Tenskwatawa. At the height of their appeal, the Shawnee brothers mustered twice as many warriors as would chiefs Sitting Bull and Crazy Horse on the Little Bighorn River some three generations later.


Fables flower where facts are few or forgotten. Myths endure when people want to believe them. So it was with the Shawnee brothers. Tecumseh would come to personify for Americans all that was great and noble in the Indian character as non-Indians (whites, in the parlance of the time) perceived greatness and nobility. The reasons for this are obvious. Tecumseh advocated a political and military alliance to oppose U.S. encroachment on Indian land. This was something that whites could readily comprehend. Tecumseh, who was first and foremost a political leader, acted as they would have acted under similar circumstances. Tenskwatawa, on the other hand, offered a divinely inspired solution to Indian land dispossession and cultural dissolution, drawing on native tradition that was beyond white understanding. Tenskwatawa’s person also repulsed whites. He was an unappealing, disfigured ex-alcoholic who as a boy had accidentally shot his right eye out with an arrow; a “man devoid of talent or merit, a brawling mischievous Indian demagogue,” according to an Indian agent who knew the Shawnee brothers intimately. The same official admired Tecumseh as the exemplar of Shawnee manhood—a skilled hunter and cunning war leader, charitable, and an orator of rare eloquence. In a similar manner, history, biography, and folklore all came to deify Tecumseh and demonize his brother.


The historian Alvin M. Josephy’s 1961 work The Patriot Chiefs: A Chronicle of Indian Leadership epitomized this tendency. Anticipating Dee Brown’s seminal Bury My Heart at Wounded Knee by a decade, The Patriot Chiefs owed its considerable influence to Josephy’s reputation as “the leading non-Indian writer about Native Americans,” a standing that his service as an adviser on federal Indian policy to presidents Kennedy and Nixon cemented.1 Josephy singled out Tecumseh as “the greatest of all the American Indian leaders, a majestic human who might have given all the Indians a nation of their own.” He dismissed Tenskwatawa as a delusional charlatan, repeating a fabricated claim that Tecumseh tried to kill him after the Battle of Tippecanoe and advancing the equally fallacious charge that Tecumseh expelled his brother from their village to wander alone and forgotten thereafter.2


This unfortunate process of elevating Tecumseh at Tenskwatawa’s expense continued with the 1992 release of Allan Eckert’s massive and “entertaining blend of fact and fiction,”3 A Sorrow in Our Heart: The Life of Tecumseh. Eckert incorporated an unconventional “hidden-dialogue”4 technique to re-create the chief’s conversations and thought. “A biography that succeeds better as fiction [and] embellishes the historical record to the point of being suspect,” a reviewer observed, A Sorrow in Our Heart relegated Tenskwatawa to the role of a “sniveling conniver achieving renown largely through his brother’s generosity.”5


The British biographer John Sugden made enormous strides in resurrecting the historical Tecumseh with Tecumseh: A Life, published in 1997. Prodigiously researched, Sugden’s work convincingly reconstructed Tecumseh’s early years, a period that had eluded previous biographers. The comparatively scant source material for Tecumseh’s life before 1805 compelled Sugden to infer certain of his activities, such as his presumed time among the Chickamauga Band of the Cherokee Indians of Tennessee. I found Sugden’s chronology sufficiently persuasive that I have incorporated it into my own work. I owe an immense debt to his pioneering study, one that I cheerfully acknowledge.


While he resurrected much of the early historical Tecumseh, Sugden failed to give Tenskwatawa adequate credit for his role in creating and sustaining the Indian confederacy of the Shawnee brothers. He also neglected the nativist religious fervor that contributed to the emergence of Tenskwatawa and that he shaped into a coherent and enthralling doctrine. Nor does Sugden address the compelling evidence that Tecumseh truly believed his brother to be a divinely inspired prophet capable of communing with the Master of Life, or Great Spirit, and also embraced his creed; both are critical aspects of the Shawnee brothers’ relationship that I explore in Tecumseh and the Prophet. The only biography of Tenskwatawa, R. David Edmunds’s 1983 work The Shawnee Prophet, addresses something of the religious underpinnings of the Shawnee brothers’ alliance. As I hope to demonstrate, Edmunds errs in contending that Tenskwatawa’s influence vanished after the Battle of Tippecanoe in 1811.


I have sought to redress these and other imbalances in the historical perception of the Shawnee brothers. Simply put, without Tenskwatawa, there would have been no Tecumseh. Tenskwatawa’s program, which aimed at the moral cleansing and spiritual rebirth of a united Indian people, gave rise to the alliance that Tecumseh later built upon for political and military purposes. The relationship between the brothers that emerges in my book is symbiotic in nature. During his lifetime, Tecumseh eventually dominated but never entirely replaced Tenskwatawa as leader of their pan-Indian confederacy.


Though they did not create the concept of pan-Indianism, the Shawnee brothers’ achievements were prodigious. Before the Shawnee brothers, there had been prophetic movements and intertribal alliances against the French, British, and Americans in their turn. The Shawnee brothers themselves acknowledged the debt they owed the Ottawa war chief Pontiac and the Delaware mystic Neolin, who together had opposed British bullying of the Eastern Woodland tribes in the 1760s. The ad hoc confederacies of Pontiac and Neolin, and later of Chiefs Blue Jacket and Little Turtle had also blunted the white wave, but these were relatively localized movements. It was the Shawnee brothers who would emerge as truly transformative figures, able to unite adherents from more than a dozen tribes in confronting both the spiritual and physical menace the young American Republic posed to the Indian way of life. Their goal of a grand Indian alliance provides a window into the larger story of the turbulent early days of the United States, when American settlers spilled over the Appalachians and killed or intimidated Indians with a contemptuous disregard for treaty and law in their haste to exploit lands recently won from the British in the War of Independence. The violent treatment of the Indians and rampant lawlessness in the Old Northwest presaged the excesses of the American West half a century later and is the bloody bridge to that era, the story of which must be told if we are to appreciate the heritage of our nation’s heartland.


Tecumseh and Tenskwatawa stepped onto the stage just as the young American Republic flexed its expansionist muscles. Indisputably, Tecumseh and Tenskwatawa were the most significant siblings in American Indian history. Giving Indians their due, it is only fair to conclude that the Shawnee brothers also were among the most influential siblings in the annals of America.


Here, presented together for the first time, are the interwoven lives of Tecumseh and the Shawnee Prophet. This book is their story, but I have tried to encompass also the events, personalities, and cultural and physical forces at play in their world. Let us begin, then, not with the birth of the elder brother Tecumseh, but with the tragic death of their father, Puckeshinwau, battling American colonists; Tecumseh was just six years old, and Tenskwatawa yet in his mother’s womb. The loss of their father epitomized the disruption and disintegration of thousands of Indian families during this tragic and largely forgotten epoch in America’s march westward.
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THE WARRIOR AND THE PROPHET





PROLOGUE



Dawn of the Long Knives


DAYBREAK, October 10, 1774. In dense forest, a column of 700 Shawnee and Mingo warriors uncoils into a ragged, mile-long line. Unlike years past, the warriors are not stalking game. Rather, they are preparing to strike 1,200 unsuspecting Virginia militiamen camped at Point Pleasant, a craggy triangle at the confluence of the Ohio and Great Kanawha rivers, approximately 150 miles southwest of modern Wheeling, West Virginia. A carpet of red and russet leaves deadens their footfalls. The warriors wear breechclouts, which are single pieces of cloth wrapped around the hips, buckskin leggings, and moccasins. A few also sport linen hunting shirts purchased from white traders. Most carry smoothbore muskets, tomahawks, scalping knives, and bow and arrows for use if their ammunition runs out. Silver rings dangle from their noses. Huge earrings hang on distended earlobes, framing faces painted in fierce patterns of red and black.


The leader of the war party, the Shawnee chief Cornstalk, would prefer to be elsewhere. Although the provocation had been immense, he had called for restraint. Virginians had flouted a royal proclamation prohibiting settlement on Indian land and instead spilled across the Kanawha River into the Kanawha Valley, part of the greater Kentucky country, all of which was prime Shawnee hunting ground. “I have with great trouble and pains prevailed on the foolish people amongst us to sit still and do no harm till we see whether it is the intention of the white people in general to fall on us,” Cornstalk had told a British official, “and shall continue so to do in the hopes that matters may be settled.” But the royal governor of Virginia, the Earl of Dunmore, who himself coveted Indian land for personal profit, had no expectation of a peaceful denouement. Frontier subjects, he wrote the Crown, despised treaties made with Indians, “whom they consider but little removed from the brute creation.” So too did the Virginia aristocracy. With the spring thaw in 1774, surveyors representing George Washington, Patrick Henry, and other Tidewater elites staked large claims along the Ohio River. Waving away the royal edict against land grabs as a “temporary expedient to quiet the minds of the Indians,” Washington told his personal surveyor not to worry.1


With the surveyors came settlers willing to wager their scalps on a scrap of land. For a time, Cornstalk succeeded in controlling his young warriors. They turned back white intruders with stern warnings but seldom harmed them. Then in April 1774 a gang of frontier ruffians butchered a small party of inoffensive Mingo men and women who had crossed the Ohio River to buy rum at a neighborhood grog shop. Other Mingoes who attempted to investigate were shot from their canoes. The dead included the sister and younger brother of the Mingo chief “Captain John” Logan, a longtime friend of the whites who, averred a pioneer who knew Logan well, represented “the best specimen of humanity, either white or red,” that he had ever met.


The massacre shocked the colonies and the Crown. The young Virginia aristocrat Thomas Jefferson excoriated the supposed perpetrators. Hard words and hand-wringing, however, marked the extent of the white response. When the Crown’s colonial justice proved empty, Logan sought revenge in the Indian fashion; he slayed just enough frontiersmen to even the score, taking care to exculpate the Shawnees from his bloody work. To the charred door of a ravaged cabin, Logan posted a succinct confession. “You killed my kin . . . then I thought I must kill too. The Indians is not angry [sic] only me.”2 Backcountry settlers saw matters otherwise. Misconstruing Chief Cornstalk’s neutrality as hostile intent, Virginia militiamen destroyed a large Shawnee village in the Ohio country. They also laid waste to six Mingo towns.


The die was cast. Shawnee and Mingo war parties retaliated. Frontiersmen reciprocated. Havoc and horror rent the wilderness. As the frontier crumbled, Lord Dunmore mustered the militia to deal the Indians a two-pronged thrashing. No longer able to keep the peace, Chief Cornstalk assumed the mantle of supreme Shawnee war leader. He tried to forge a broad Indian alliance, but British threats and cajolery sidelined other tribes. And so in late September, Cornstalk sallied forth with his Shawnee and Mingo force to defend their lands. Calculating that his only chance lay in defeating Dunmore’s armies before they could unite, Cornstalk turned his attention first to the command of Gen. Andrew Lewis, who was then creeping across the wilds of western Virginia toward Point Pleasant. Although outnumbered, Cornstalk had able Shawnee lieutenants, among them the rising star Puckeshinwau, already honored as both a war and a civil leader, offices the Shawnees rarely combined.3


The Indians hated the militiamen but respected their fighting prowess. They called the Virginians the “Long Knives” because of the butcher knives and short swords that they wielded with as much skill as the Indians did the tomahawk. Like Indian warriors, the Virginians were a colorful if undisciplined lot. A few of the officers wore regular uniforms, but most were clad in the same sort of hunting shirts, leather leggings, homemade breeches, broad-brimmed hats or animal-skin caps, and moccasins as their men. Each militiaman carried a flintlock long-rifle or English musket, a bullet pouch, and powder horn carved to individual taste. In addition to knives, many also tucked tomahawks into their belts. Well schooled in Indian warfare and raging with the Kentucky land-fever, the Virginians were impatient for the fray.4


This morning, however, they slumbered soundly, unaware of the approaching warriors. The night before, the Indians had slipped across the Ohio River in crude rafts beneath a cobalt sky, debouching on the rocky, timber-strewn Virginia riverbank four miles north of the militia camp. Cornstalk and his lieutenants oversaw the carefully choreographed battle preparations. Their warriors slept a few hours, leaning against trees or propped against forked poles, weapons at the ready. Hunters killed twelve deer and ritually sliced the venison under the watchful eyes of medicine men (spiritual and natural healers), who examined the roasted strips for spiritual purity before handing each warrior one piece. After eating, the men buried their blankets and shirts beneath leaves. Deploying in units of twenty, they each crammed four balls into their muskets to inflict maximum punishment at short range. They would tomahawk any survivors. Cornstalk selected the best marksmen to descend to the riverbank to pick off any Virginians desperate enough to plunge into the broad Ohio after the Indians sprang their trap.5


And then his plan unraveled. At dawn, October 10, 1774, two early-rising Virginians wandered into the forest to hunt deer. Instead they ran into the Indians. One militiaman crumpled, riddled with musket balls, but the other stumbled back into camp to sound the alarm. Instantly the drums beat to arms. The backwoodsmen rolled from their blankets, examined their flints and priming, and awaited orders.


Feigning composure, General Lewis lit his pipe. He blew a few puffs and then ordered two colonels to lead double columns of 150 men forward to discover the source of the commotion. Both officers fell in the first Indian volley. Concealed behind the trunks of maple and pine and in the tangled underbrush of the river bottom, the warriors dropped dozens of militiamen, screaming epithets at the “sons of bitches” and “white dogs” as they fired. Lewis pushed out reinforcements, and the combatants grappled at close quarters in the smoke-choked timber. “Hide where I would,” a Virginian recalled, “the muzzle of some rifle was gaping in my face and the wild, distorted countenance of a savage was rushing towards me with uplifted tomahawk. The contest resembled more a circus of gladiators than a battle.”6


After six hours of close combat, the two sides backed apart and traded fire from behind trees and fallen timber. Puckeshinwau and his fellow war leaders moved along the Indian line, exhorting their warriors to “lie close,” “shoot well,” and “fight and be strong.” Near sunset, General Lewis occupied a high ridge that Cornstalk had neglected to secure. Stung by bullets from above their left flank and low on ammunition, the Indians melted back into the forest and recrossed the Ohio. The Virginians contented themselves with scalping fallen warriors and collecting souvenirs.7


It had been a bloody twelve hours. The Indians killed seventy-five Virginians and wounded another 140. Perhaps forty warriors died. Hoping to disguise their losses, the Indians rolled several of their dead into the river. The Virginians nevertheless collected thirty-two scalps. These they affixed to a post at Point Pleasant.8


The battle claimed just one prominent Indian, the Shawnee war leader Puckeshinwau. His thirteen-year-old son Cheeseekau, not yet a warrior, had accompanied him into action. After Puckeshinwau fell mortally wounded, Cheeseekau helped ease him back over the Ohio in a driftwood raft. Before dying, Puckeshinwau reputedly admonished his young son to preserve his family’s honor, never reconcile with the Long Knives, and “in the future lead forth to battle his younger brothers” against them. Cheeseekau swore to obey. Puckeshinwau’s warriors buried their chief deep in the forest.


Cheeseekau had accepted a heavy burden. He had three siblings, and his now-widowed mother was pregnant with triplets. Cheeseekau’s favorite sibling, upon whom he would lavish most of his attention and who would best fulfill his father’s last wish, was his six-year-old brother Tecumseh, the “Shooting Star.”9





• PART •


ONE






1



The Great Awakening


TECUMSEH’S FATHER had never lived in the land for which he fought and died. Nor had any Shawnee resided in the Kentucky country for nearly two decades prior to the Battle of Point Pleasant.


Puckeshinwau also had been a relative newcomer to the Ohio Valley village he had come to call home. The young war leader of a peripatetic Shawnee band, he grew to manhood in the heart of the Creek Indian confederacy, six hundred miles to the south, in what is today central Alabama. By 1759, however, the time seemed propitious for a move. White settlers were pressing the Creek country from the east, and Puckeshinwau’s followers found the prospect of Shawnee unity captivating. Puckeshinwau went reluctantly, however. His first wife, since deceased, had been Creek, and he had adopted something of their ways. Methoataske, his second bride, belonged to a respected Shawnee family with ties to the Ohio bands, and she was anxious to head north.1


The southern Shawnees trekked hopefully toward the Ohio River Valley. So did the handful of Shawnees who lived in western Pennsylvania. All thought themselves headed for their ancestral homeland, presumably a country of peace and tribal unity beyond the reach of whites. Their destination, however, was the fault line between French and British interests, and as such was fated to become an imperial battleground.


The British had encouraged the Shawnees to assemble in the Ohio Valley, to “come home again, that you may become once more a people and not dispersed through the world.” English agents claimed the French “[have] deceived you and scattered you about the woods, that they might have it in their power to keep you poor.” As the brunt of mockery by other Algonquins, who derided them as “a people with nowhere a fire burning,” the Shawnees found that the British beckons reinforced their own desire to return home.2


Then the fire engulfed them. Hoping to avoid entanglements with the whites, the Shawnees instead contributed to the onset of war when they persuaded their Miami Indian allies to settle near them and invite reputable Pennsylvania merchants to compete with French traders. The proposal made sense to the Miamis; the Ohio Valley had once been theirs, too. But France saw the Miamis and Shawnees as dangerous British surrogates who threatened its trade route between French Canada and Louisiana. Descending on the Ohio Valley from the Great Lakes, the French and their Indian allies built a fort at the site of modern Pittsburgh and in November 1755 slaughtered a large British force under Gen. Edward Braddock sent to expel them. Siding with the now-dominant French, Shawnee warriors ravaged the Pennsylvania and Virginia frontiers. Slaughtering hundreds of settlers, they made the name Shawnee synonymous with unbridled savagery. A French officer, horrified at their apparent cruelty, lamented that the Shawnees had become “the instrument of hatred between two powerful rivals, as also that of [their] own destruction.”3


Which nearly occurred. When the British conquered Canada and defeated the French in 1763, Algonquin tribes like the Shawnees paid dearly for their French alliance. The Indians had hoped that the victorious British would abandon their frontier forts and, like the French before them, become a benevolent father who lavished presents on his red children. Unfortunately for the Indians, the recently ended European Seven Years’ War had depleted the British treasury, and the Crown economized at their expense. The gifts of gunpowder and lead on which the Indians had come to depend for the hunt ceased; let the natives revert to bows and arrows, the British reasoned. The Indians, however, wanted the best of both worlds—European goods with no whites in their country except traders.


No sooner had the British imposed their austerity regime than a smallpox epidemic devastated Shawnee and Miami villages. Puckeshinwau and his family escaped unscathed, but scores succumbed. Compounding the Indians’ despair, the British demanded they release hundreds of white captives, few of whom wanted to repatriate. Adoptive families were ripped apart. Meanwhile, as loved ones departed, unwanted whites intruded, a two-way traffic the British did not intend. Ignoring the Crown prohibition, hundreds of rural poor crossed the Alleghenies to scratch out crude homes along the upper reaches of the Ohio River.


An English missionary characterized the incoming frontier rabble as “white savages [who] subsist by hunting,” an assessment with which the British military agreed. “Lamentably dissolute in their morals,” these otherwise impoverished rascals had an abundant hatred of Indians and an ample supply of rum, with which they plied the Indians to rob them of their furs. Chiefs protested to no avail, and the corrosive effect of liquor rendered their warriors restive.4


The turmoil spared the eastern Ohio country, where the Delaware “grandfathers” of the Shawnees resided. There nevertheless lurked dangers and evil portents enough to set some Delawares to pondering. None contemplated the Delaware destiny more profoundly than did an enigmatic mystic named Neolin, who feared the white man’s diseases, abhorred the niggardly and arrogant British officials who treated the Indians as infants, and understood that colonists wanted Indian land. Perhaps, he speculated, in straying from traditional ways, the Indians themselves were to blame for their misfortunes. One night, alone by his wigwam fire, Neolin beheld a man materialize from the flames to tell him that “these things he was thinking were right.”5


The spectral visitor escorted Neolin to the gates of eternity, where the Great Spirit revealed to Neolin the path to righteousness. From that night forward, Neolin was a prophet (or an imposter, depending on the source). Clutching a hieroglyphic-painted deerskin and weeping ceaselessly, he roamed his village exhorting passersby to hear and see the Great Spirit’s teachings.


Neolin offered a selective return to the old ways interwoven with promises of heavenly rewards for the faithful and damnation for skeptics. (Heaven, the Delaware Prophet assured his disciples, contained only Indians.) Within months his doctrine spread from the Ohio Valley to the Great Lakes. By early 1763, every Algonquin tribe had its devotees, awakened to a religious and cultural movement that superseded tribal and village loyalties.


Neolin taught that Indians must abandon their sacred medicine bags, which were the playthings of evil spirits, and instead pray directly to the Great Spirit, better known to the Shawnees as the Master of Life. They must forswear rum and purify themselves by drinking and vomiting an herbal tea. The Shawnees drank and spewed the concoction with such enthusiasm that their village of Wakatomica became known to white traders as “vomit town.” Regurgitating herbs was one thing, but few Indians took seriously Neolin’s admonition to abstain from sexual intercourse far more frequently than the Indian belief in the competing sources of male and female power dictated, nor his insistence that fire made with steel and flint was impure; flames, he said, should be started only by rubbing sticks together. Easier to accept because it entailed no immediate sacrifice was Neolin’s call for the gradual abandonment of European trade goods and firearms, a seven-year transition from guns to bows and arrows.


The Indians would need their muskets in the near term because Neolin also preached a call to arms against the whites, prophesying that there would be “two or three good talks and then war.” The whites would be wiped from the continent, game animals would return in abundance, earth would become an Indian paradise, and the direct route to heaven would reopen. With Neolin’s appeal, pan-Indianism was born in the Old Northwest.6


In April 1763, near the British fort at Detroit, the Ottawa war chief Pontiac imparted a watered-down version of Neolin’s moral code to a council of Indian allies. Indians could drink rum, Pontiac assured his listeners, just not to excess, and men might enjoy sexual relations, but only with their wife, and with one wife only. Finally, it was just the British colonists who were enemies of the Indians; the Great Spirit looked favorably upon the French, who after all had implicitly offered to support war against the British. Translating Neolin’s call to arms into action, Pontiac laid siege to Fort Detroit. He sent black wampum belts, symbols of the call to war, to the tribes of the Ohio Valley. One British post after another fell until only three remained. It was a conflict of unbridled violence. Drunken Ottawas tortured and ritualistically ate captives; renegade colonists slaughtered innocent Indians. The Shawnee chief Cornstalk took a huge war party deep into western Virginia, killing and seizing civilians with abandon. Nearly 2,000 British soldiers and colonial civilians perished in the opening months of Pontiac’s War, but Forts Detroit, Niagara, and Pitt held out, and the Crown rushed in reinforcements. A stalemate ensued that neither side could break. Unable to defeat Pontiac, the British elevated him to the status of chief of all Algonquins, an office anathema to every Indian except Pontiac. In 1766 he made peace with the British. The war sputtered to a close, but Pontiac had forfeited his standing among the Indians. He went into exile deep in the Illinois country, and three years later an irate warrior murdered him on the fetid streets of a small French trading village. In accepting the British proffer of supreme leadership of the still fiercely independent Algonquins, Pontiac had reached too high.7


Tales of Neolin and Pontiac, of the prophecies of the Delaware seer and the martial talents of his Ottawa disciple, would be told around Indian campfires for years to come. They were heroes for boys to venerate, perhaps eventually to emulate.


Besides prideful stories, the Shawnees gained nothing from Pontiac’s War. The British compelled them to surrender adopted white members of the tribe, and the reinvigorated Iroquois, who had sided with the British, demanded the Shawnees abandon their claim to hunting grounds south of the Ohio River, comprising most of present-day Kentucky and West Virginia. In November 1768 the Iroquois in turn ceded these lands to the British in the Treaty of Fort Stanwix. The country west and north of the Ohio, which the British lumped under the rubric “Indian Territory,” was to be inviolate, the Ohio River boundary permanent. Barred from the proceedings, the Shawnees denounced the Fort Stanwix Treaty as barefaced thievery. They ceased to recognize Iroquois leadership, endeavored to build a coalition independent of the Iroquois, and forswore addressing the British as fathers. Shawnee scouting parties patrolled the Kentucky country, on the watch for white interlopers.8


The trespassers came through the Cumberland Gap or down the Ohio River: hardscrabble farmers in search of better land, fugitives from justice, and the congenitally restless of slack moral fiber, while from the comfort of their Virginia estates land speculators deployed surveyors to finagle title to the Indian lands.9


Among the first intruders was an impoverished North Carolinian named Daniel Boone and six other poor whites. Crossing the Cumberland Gap in early 1769, they slaughtered the teeming game animals wantonly without encountering a single Indian until December, when a group of Shawnees under an English-speaking war leader named Captain Will burst into their predawn winter bivouac. “The time of our sorrow was now arrived,” mused Boone. Instead of meting out the expected torture and death, the Shawnees behaved “in the friendliest manner,” simply confiscating his party’s furs with an admonishment never to return. “Now, brothers,” declared Captain Will, “go home and stay there. Don’t come here anymore, for this is the Indians’ hunting ground, and all the animals, skins, and furs are ours. And if you are so foolish as to venture here again, you may be sure the wasps and yellow-jackets will string you severely.”


The Shawnees had shown remarkable restraint, but they were mistaken if they thought their painted faces, flashing tomahawks, and formidable war clubs would deter Boone and his companions. No sooner had the North Carolinians reached home than they made plans to return.10


The Iroquois betrayal at Fort Stanwix and the first wave of white emigrants left the Ohio Shawnees to navigate frightening but familiar waters—just become settled in one place, only to have it threatened. Tribal councils debated the viability of the Ohio Valley as a permanent home. Many were for pulling up stakes and relocating west of the Mississippi River. Not only were whites threatening the eastern periphery of the Ohio Valley, but the region also was fast repopulating with other Indians, stressing a game supply already depleted by overhunting for the trade in furs and skins. Relative to the British colonial population on the eastern seaboard, Indian numbers in the Ohio Valley were pitifully small, however. At the time of the Treaty of Fort Stanwix, several tribes called the region home, but disease and warfare had taken a heavy toll on all of them. The Shawnees, numbering just 1,500, claimed most of the southern half of what is today Ohio. The Delawares, 3,500 in all, occupied eastern Ohio and northern Pennsylvania nearly to the Delaware River. Unlike the Shawnees, they had no interest in Kentucky.


Immediately north of the Shawnees were the Wyandots. Remnants of the once mighty Huron confederacy, they had been reduced by warfare and disease to 1,250 members. Although their numbers were small and they were not Algonquins, their prestige was such that many Algonquins deferred to them on boundary and other intertribal questions. The northwestern border of the Shawnee country touched land claimed by the Ottawas, most of whose 5,000 members resided in what is today western Michigan. West of the Shawnees were the 1,500 Miamis. The Shawnees did not yet have much contact with other tribes of the Great Lakes region. The total Indian population of the Great Lakes and Ohio Valley in 1768 was approximately 60,000. The thirteen British colonies numbered nearly 2 million. The odds against the Indians were bad, and with high birth rates among the whites and unabated immigration to the colonies, they would only get worse.11


Tecumseh’s father Puckeshinwau stood with those Shawnees who were opposed to leaving Ohio. And by 1768 his words carried weight. He had won considerable renown in Pontiac’s War and may also have become the head chief of the Kispokos, one of five tribal divisions. His wife Methoataske belonged to the Pekowi division. Of these and the other Shawnee divisions, more will be said. Since moving to Ohio, Methoataske had given birth to the couple’s first three children— a son, Cheeseekau, born about 1761; a daughter, Tecumpease, likely born the following year; and then another son, Sauwauseekau.


Puckeshinwau probably helped found Kispoko town, a new satellite Shawnee village well north of the troubled Ohio River border and some seventy miles southeast of modern Dayton. In addition to his honors from Pontiac’s War, Puckeshinwau had returned from the conflict with a four-year-old white boy named Richard Sparks, seized in western Virginia.12


A young male addition to the family undoubtedly pleased Puckeshinwau and Methoataske. Sons were a source of pride, and a white boy taken young enough to raise as an Indian could be counted on to help fill the ranks of Shawnee warriors, which battle losses had cut to no more than four hundred. Sparks was also roughly the same age as the couple’s son Sauwauseekau, making them natural playmates, once Richard’s white identity was expunged.


Puckeshinwau grew quite fond of his adopted son. He renamed the boy Shawtunte and rejected British demands to repatriate him. Sparks lived among the Shawnees for a dozen years before returning to white society. Late in her life, Sparks’s white widow said his adoptive parents raised him “with unusual kindness and indulgence.” Perhaps that explains why Shawtunte resisted leaving Puckeshinwau and Methoataske. “I remember his telling me how great a calamity he considered it to be taken away from the Indians,” recalled his white brother-in-law, “and of his schemes for making his escape and returning to them.”13
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The fateful year of the Fort Stanwix betrayal, 1768, also brought Puckeshinwau and Methoataske a natural addition to their family. Spring found them in Chillicothe, the principal Shawnee town and tribal ceremonial center forty-five miles south of modern Columbus, Ohio. Puckeshinwau had come to Chillicothe to attend another of the interminable councils held to discuss the tribe’s future. Methoataske, meanwhile, awaited the birth of her fourth child. Indian women far along in a pregnancy frequently traveled with their husbands, but they customarily gave birth only in the company of female relatives or friends. As her delivery date drew near Methoataske and her attendants retired to a secluded spot “two arrow flights” southeast of Chillicothe, near the banks of the Scioto River. One night, as Methoataske kept to the hut and waited, the other women saw a shooting star sweep across the sky and sink into the western horizon.


“One passed across,” the women excitedly told Methoataske. Almost immediately, Tecumseh was born. Such is the story of Tecumseh’s birth as his great-grandson Thomas Wildcat Alford related it. Stephen D. Ruddell, an adopted white boy and youthful confidant of Tecumseh, told a similar tale. In Ruddell’s version, which he may have gotten from Tecumseh, it was Methoataske herself who witnessed the comet. Both accounts are plausible as to the circumstances if not the location of Tecumseh’s birth.14 They also convey something of the significance of Tecumseh’s name, the meaning of which can only be rendered imperfectly in English. Even the pronunciation is elusive. Ruddell, who spoke both English and Shawnee fluently, gave it as “Tec-cum-theth.”


While Methoataske and her infant son remained cloistered, Puckeshinwau invited two elderly relatives or friends to the family’s wigwam, calling upon them to perform the sacred naming ceremony on the tenth day after his son’s birth. The name-givers were to ponder and pray until they divined two names from which the parents might choose. On the morning of the tenth day, Methoataske cleaned herself and her infant well, left her hut, and returned to the family wigwam. Her caregivers prepared the naming feast. While the extended family crowded around, the infant received a sponge-bath. Then the name-givers declaimed on the logic behind the names they offered, one of which presumably incorporated the shooting-star metaphor. They called on the Master of Life—the Shawnee creator—to protect the baby and exhorted the parents to raise him well. Having heard the name-givers out, Puckeshinwau and Methoataske made their choice.


The name they chose, Tecumseh, derives from níla-ni-tkamáthka, meaning “I cross the path or way” of a living being. As Tecumseh was born into the Panther umsoma (patrilineal clan or name group), the animal whose path he crossed was a panther—no ordinary panther, but rather a miraculous creature of transcendental existence that lived in the water but periodically burst across the skies as a shooting star.15 The panther, celestial or commonplace, was a formidable creature in the eighteenth-century Ohio Valley. A Shawnee male whose name incorporated that of the panther inspired awe because the panther’s hunting skills were an object of envy. Shawnee males of the Panther clan conceived of themselves as panthers, and the birth of a boy of the clan beneath a celestial incarnation of the beast portended immense hunting prowess.16


The infant Tecumseh viewed the world from a tkithoway, or cradleboard, strapped securely onto his mother’s back. The Shawnees believed the tkithoway helped develop good posture. To steady Tecumseh’s head, Methoataske likely added a wooden hoop adorned with shells and silver ornaments. As she performed her daily chores— carrying water, gathering firewood, cooking meals, and planting the spring corn crop (Shawnee women indulged in no postpartum rest)—Tecumseh rocked gently on her back. Methoataske attended to Tecumseh’s earthly needs; Puckeshinwau saw to the baby’s spiritual welfare. After Tecumseh’s umbilical cord fell off, Puckeshinwautucked it into his hunting bag. He carried it with him until autumn, then buried it with the antler of a young buck. The commingling of antler and umbilical cord in the earth, blessed with the proper prayers, would help Tecumseh grow into a mighty hunter.17


Freed from the cradleboard after a year, Tecumseh became subject to a mild form of discipline. If he misbehaved, the toddler might feel the swat of a stick on his tiny legs or find himself tossed into a shallow stream. Shawnees generally doted on their children, however, and he would quickly discover that his parents preferred to praise good conduct rather than punish bad behavior. He would also learn to respect the elderly, whose authority over children was absolute.18


No sooner did Tecumseh learn to walk than he was one with nature. His feet would have glided over the cool, smooth-swept dirt surface of the family wigwam in the spring and summer and sunk into the soft and warm animal-skin rugs that covered the floor in the fall and winter months. The gratifying wintergreen scent of the birchbark walls mingled in his tiny nostrils with the pungent odor of smoke rising from the central hearth. Outdoors he waddled over a carpet of crenate leaves, learning to dodge the catkin and cones that dotted the ground. A symphony of familiar sounds—the idle chatter of women at work, the laughter of lounging warriors, the ceaseless barking and yapping of countless dogs—comforted Shawnee toddlers like Tecumseh. A thousand aromas rose from the forest floor, wafted on the wind. At night broken moonlight shivered beneath the canopy of swaying treetops. Inside the wigwam Tecumseh jostled for a spot among his parents, three siblings, adopted white brother, and the inevitable evening visitors. Most Shawnees, he would discover, abhorred solitude.


When Tecumseh was two, Methoataske gave birth to her fifth child, a son named Nehaaseemo, of whom little is known. Sometime during Tecumseh’s childhood (probably when he was eight), smallpox struck Tecumseh. The vomiting, diarrhea, and excruciating headaches eventually passed, leaving in their wake a face lightly pockmarked for life.19


Then came the bitter autumn of 1774, when Puckeshinwau fell fighting the Long Knives at Point Pleasant, and Tecumseh’s fourteen-year-old elder brother Cheeseekau assumed the role of surrogate parent. His sister Tecumpease, who had married the fine young warrior Wahsikegaboe (sometimes spelled Wasabogoa) and achieved considerable status herself among the women of the village, helped ease the pregnant Methoataske’s burden. Nothing, however, could have prepared Methoataske for her delivery in spring 1775. She gave birth to triplets, a supremely rare occurrence that the Shawnees believed an ill omen and that left Methoataske shaken and ashamed. Her distress was brief, however. One of the infants, a girl, died shortly after birth. The baby boys survived, emerging from their naming ceremonies as Kumskaukau, “Cat That Flies,” and Laloeshiga, a runt whose name meant, perhaps hopefully, “Panther with a Handsome Tail.”20 In addition to Cheeseekau and Tecumpease’s contributions, Blackfish, a good-natured war chief of the Chillicothe division who had been a devoted friend of Puckeshinwau, did what he could as a foster father to Methoataske’s younger children.21


Lord Dunmore’s War had effectively ended with the Battle of Point Pleasant. Chief Cornstalk finally recognized the Ohio River boundary line as it had been fixed in the Fort Stanwix Treaty. Some Shawnees advocated peaceful coexistence. Others distanced themselves from the Long Knives. Several hundred Shawnees, representing the entire Thawekila division, resettled among the Creeks. And the residents of Chillicothe town, 170 families that included those of Methoataske and Blackfish, removed from the Scioto to the Little Miami River in southwestern Ohio.22


There was no sating the white appetite for Indian land. A memorandum to the British Secretary of State for North America urged His Majesty’s Government to abrogate any agreement to abstain from exploiting the Ohio Valley because “the lands are excellent, the climate temperate, [and] the country is well-watered by several navigable rivers communicating with each other.” Large boats were able to negotiate the Ohio River itself year round, making it cheaper to export goods to British West Florida and the West Indies by river (first along the Ohio, then down the Mississippi) than by sea from New York or Philadelphia.23
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No wonder then that wealthy land speculators did a lucrative business buying up large tracts, while the less fortunate poured into the newly opened Kentucky country to grab small parcels concentrated around community forts, called stations. The more daring ventured north of the Ohio River. The deepening encroachments distressed a missionary among the Delawares. “The whole country on the Ohio River has already drawn the attention of many persons from the neighboring colonies,” he wrote. “Generally forming themselves into parties, [they] would rove through the country in search of land, and some, careless over their conduct or destitute of both honor and humanity, would join a rabble—a class of people generally met with on the frontier—who maintained that to kill an Indian was the same as killing a bear or a buffalo and would fire on Indians that came across them by the way.”24 By 1775 only Indians stood before the rabble. Unrest in the American colonies had erupted into armed conflict, forcing Great Britain to withdraw its troops from all the Indian country forts except Detroit and Niagara. The colonial empire was vanishing.


The Shawnees were uncertain what to make of the new peace emissaries who called themselves Americans. “We are often inclined to believe there is no resting place for us and that your intentions [are] to deprive us entirely of our whole country,” Shawnee chiefs told a Virginia delegation in July 1775. That summer a Continental Congress emissary found the Shawnees “constantly counseling, the women very uneasy in expectation that there would be war.” Shawnee tribal councils grew bitter. Representatives of the Kispoko and Mekoche divisions spoke for accommodation; the Chillicothe (among whom Methoataske’s family lived) and Pekowi divisions, for war.


Cornstalk did his utmost to avoid conflict with the Americans. In October 1775 he led a Shawnee delegation to Fort Pitt, on the site of Pittsburgh. In exchange for American recognition of the Ohio River as the boundary between Indian and white lands, Cornstalk and his fellow delegates signed a peace treaty that the fledgling American government would be hard pressed to enforce. For the next two years Cornstalk maintained Shawnee neutrality in the American Revolution. As American pressure on the Shawnee border grew, however, the venerable chief slowly lost his hold over all the Shawnees but the Mekoches. While Cornstalk and his people arranged to quit the roiling frontier and withdraw north toward Lake Erie, younger Chillicothe and Pekowi leaders held their ground and accepted a British call to war against the Americans. Together with the always restive Mingoes, small Chillicothe and Pekowi war parties pricked at the frontier defenses.


In November 1777, Cornstalk returned to Fort Pitt to renew his pledge of friendship and to warn of militant Shawnee designs. It was a pointless mission. The Americans had grown distrustful of all Shawnees, and Cornstalk’s words fell on deaf ears. Growing morose, he reflected, “When I was young, and went to war, I thought that each expedition might prove the last, and I would return no more. Now I am here amongst you. You may kill me if you please. I can die but once, and it is all one to me, now or another time.”


The council terminated, and the officers dispersed. Suddenly a party of enraged militiamen carrying a comrade’s scalped corpse burst into Cornstalk’s room, crying “Let us kill the Indians in the fort.” Cornstalk declared calmly, “If any Long Knife has anything against me, let him now avenge himself.” In response, a volley of eight bullets riddled his body. “If we had anything to expect from [the Shawnees],” rued the American commander, “it is now vanished.”25


Tecumseh was nine when Chief Cornstalk was murdered. He lived in the new Chillicothe town on the Little Miami River, a lovely and seemingly safe location. Wigwams interspersed with log cabins blanketed a high ridge along the river’s east bank. Just northeast of the town center stood the council house, sixty feet square and built of strong, notched hickory logs. Corn, melon, and squash fields stretched far away to the south; vegetables grew abundantly in the rich, dark soil. The Little Miami teemed with fish. The wooded hills of southwestern Ohio abounded in game animals. Twelve miles northeast of the new Chillicothe lay the smaller Shawnee community of Piqua (modern Springfield, Ohio).26


Tecumseh was a busy youngster. Strenuous exercise consumed his days. “Running, swimming, and jumping were matters of course with us,” recalled a Shawnee, “but the older men encouraged us to practice those things that developed greater strength; also, they taught us to shoot our bows and arrows with accuracy and great skill.” Tecumseh would have had a scaled-down bow and small arrows, large enough to shoot small animals or to play the hoop game (in which boys tried to send arrows through a rolling grapevine hoop), but not so large as to be a danger to him.


Adult males tested Tecumseh on his marksmanship and his endurance. “When a boy got up in the morning his face was blacked with charcoal, and he was sent out to kill some game for food,” Tecumseh’s great-grandson wrote of the woodland practicum. “It might be a quail, a rabbit, or a squirrel, seldom larger game than that. He was given no food until he returned with what he was sent out to procure. Because his face was blacked, everyone who saw him knew why he was out, and no one gave him food or helped him in any way. He was absolutely on his own resources.”


Hunting came naturally to Tecumseh. “He always killed more birds than any of his party,” recalled the métis (mixed blood) Anthony Shane, who later married a cousin of Tecumseh. Shane said that Tecumseh had his own little gang, over which he exercised implicit control.


The Shawnees expected nothing less from the son of a renowned war chief, watched over by a celestial panther guardian. Emulating the animal’s nobler qualities would naturally have become the adolescent Tecumseh’s most ardent desire. Like the panther, he longed to be a strong and stealthy beast of prey capable of catching deer at will. He learned that the panthers who stalked the forests surrounding Chillicothe never harmed humans without provocation—neither would Tecumseh. Should an Indian draw too near the den of a female panther with cubs, however, he faced mortal danger. Surviving such an encounter required absolute self-possession. Tecumseh learned never to turn his back on a she-panther, thinking he could escape. He must stare the animal down. If he lacked the courage to shoot, he must gently but firmly walk backward until he was a safe distance away. If he shot and missed, he would almost certainly forfeit his life.27


Tecumseh was careful not to play with girls; Shawnee boys who did so were doomed to merciless ridicule. From the time a boy could walk, he was taught to feel superior to his sisters. Nevertheless, Tecumseh worshipped the fifteen-year-old Tecumpease, the adolescent she-panther of the family whenever Methoataske faltered. And little girls lavished affection on him. Shane said Tecumseh told the other boys that he would never tie himself to just one girl because all the pretty girls wanted him.28


As with childhood female attention, Tecumseh seldom wanted for nourishing food. He enjoyed a varied diet. Whites who ate Shawnee dishes usually enjoyed them, too. Favorites included venison roasted over open coals with herbs and dipped in bear oil; beaver tails, duck, or squirrel wrapped in wet corn husks and baked in hot ashes; and dried pumpkin and venison cakes. Some whites objected to the absence of salt. The Shawnees also liked salt, but it was hard to come by. Obtained from naturally occurring salt springs, or licks, it required much boiling to extract even a pinch. So the Shawnees made do with herbs, a healthy alternative. As for sweets, the Shawnees favored molasses sugar but also enjoyed chocolate acquired from traders. Corn was a dietary staple venerated as a divine gift to be harvested joyfully. The dishes made from corn ranged from a wholesome cornbread mixed with fruit to emergency hunting rations in the form of parched-corn cakes.29


When not visited by white men’s diseases, the Shawnees were a healthy people who took great pride in their physical appearance. Their standards of hygiene were higher than those of white frontiersmen, which were frankly abysmal; a white captive boy remembered that his Shawnee father bathed regularly year round, plunging nude into frigid rivers in the dead of winter. Shawnee men thought facial and body hair unattractive and plucked it with mussel shells. Of at least medium height, slender, and well built, their skin tone varied from a light olive to a dark brown, and their eyes were generally brown. The Shawnees had jet-black hair when young, which grayed normally with age.


European trade goods comprised much of the clothing and adornments of the woodland tribes. In cold weather Shawnee men, and sometimes women, wore a cloak called a match-coat. Formerly made of deer, panther, or bearskin and worn with the fur facing inward, by the late eighteenth century, Indian match-coats more commonly were of coarse woolen cloth called stroud, usually about seven feet long, which the wearer wrapped around the upper part of the body like a toga. Match-coats also served in a pinch as blankets. Eventually readymade European garments replaced them in the Shawnee wardrobe.


In warm weather, men dressed in a linen shirt; a breechclout, which was a long rectangular piece of tanned deerskin, cloth, or animal fur worn between the legs and tucked over a belt, so that the flaps covered the genitals; animal-skin leggings; and deerskin moccasins. Some also donned hats bought from traders or wrapped handkerchiefs around their heads. Male hairstyles also reflected a European influence. Traditionally men had shaved their heads bald to the crown, leaving only a circular handful that they adorned with a feathered plume or a colorful hair roach. Increasingly, however, warriors wore their hair long, braided, and adorned with ostrich feathers. Tattoos, never frequent among Indians north of the Ohio River to begin with, were seldom seen in Tecumseh’s day. Only war paint—fashioned from iron oxide and most commonly worn as red, black, or white stripes—remained unchanged. Shawnee traditionalists found the wearing of long hair and linen shirts by men off-putting.30


Women’s wear, on the other hand, drew general approval, even of traditionalist males. Most adult females wore calico blouses that closed at the breasts with a silver brooch and extended about six inches below the waist; a skirt of stroud terminating just below the knee; and leggings. They greased their hip-length hair with bear fat until it sheened and then braided it. Some women daubed red dots on the cheeks, but most used no facial paint. The colorful apparel and ornamentation of Shawnee females fascinated one captive white adolescent. Elderly women dressed simply, but “all of the young and middle-aged are passionately fond of finery... having the tops of their moccasins curiously wrought with beads ribbons and porcupine quills, the borders of their leggings and the bottom and edges of their strouds tastily bound with ribbons, edged with beads, and frequently on their moccasins and leggings small tufts of deer’s hair, dyed red and confined in small pieces of twine, rattling as they walked,” he recalled. Jewelry was ubiquitous. “According to their ability they covered [themselves] with large and small silver brooches and wore on their wrists and arms silver bracelets from one to four inches in width.”


Both sexes coveted silver baubles, the more the better. Indeed, men were more ostentatious than women. Not only did they wear silver bracelets and nose rings, they also customarily cut their ears, binding the auricle with brass wire, from which dangled silver pieces nearly to their shoulders. To white men unaccustomed to the sight, a fully decked-out woodland Indian presented an aspect variously described as colorful, bizarre, or grotesque.31


In these striking surroundings, the young Tecumseh passed his evenings absorbed in stories told by male elders. Like other Shawnee boys, he learned the premium their people placed on oratorical skill. Tales of the first encounter between Shawnees and whites held boys spellbound with wonder and dread. A Mekoche chief related one such story:




Our old men used to tell our people that a great serpent would come from the seas and destroy our people. When the first European vessel came in sight, the Indians saw the pennant, with its forked end darting and moving like the forked tongue of the serpent. “There,” said they, “is the serpent our old men have been telling us about!” When the old men first tasted rum, tears ran down their cheeks. “This,” they said, “is what will destroy our young men.”





Equally fearsome were tales told of witches. As the elder of the two, Tecumseh heard them first, but they would make a deeper impression on his awkward younger brother Laloeshiga. Not that Tecumseh discounted such talk. Witchcraft cast a malevolent shadow over the Shawnees, who fervently believed that necromancers of both sexes prowled the dark-forested periphery of their existence, probing for weaknesses, ever ready to wreak pain and sow chaos. The Shawnees thought that witches derived their power from bits of the living flesh of the Great Serpent that had impeded the mythological Shawnee migration across the Atlantic Ocean. The fabled Shawnees had lured the beast ashore, where with mystical rites and menstrual blood they killed, dismembered, and then burned the creature. But malicious tribesmen had preserved a few scraps of the serpent’s reanimated flesh, which they mixed with other vile substances in a medicine bag to obtain necromantic powers. Witches passed the bags secretly to succeeding generations. The Shawnees were not unique among woodland Indians in their strong belief in witchcraft or in its manifestations; other woodland tribes shared similar views.


In the perpetual struggle for eternal harmony, neglect of ritual gave witches free rein to wield their evil against fellow tribesmen, engendering earthly chaos, desolation, and anguish. Unfortunate for tribal prospects, the Shawnees believed the witches in their midst were powerless against the whites; they could, however, so weaken the Shawnees as to guarantee their subjugation.


Practitioners of the black arts were said to possess a physical characteristic, such as a red eye or an abnormal birthmark, that often betrayed them. They worked furtively and usually at night, plying their maleficent trade against neighbors and kinsmen. Envious and spiteful, witches were believed to be not entirely human, which should have made their destruction easier to stomach. As witches were a primal force of disorder and decay, everyone had a duty to eradicate them. By the time Tecumseh learned of witches, many Shawnees speculated that tribal misfortunes stemmed from neglect of the Creator’s injunction that they expunge them from their midst. Few Shawnees, however, had the moral courage to undertake the task.32
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A Restless People


SHAWNEE TROUBLES, whether caused by witches, whites, or fellow Indians, predated Tecumseh’s birth by more than a century. Although the mystic chords of dim memory stirred in the Shawnees a profound affection for the Ohio country, they were in doubt as to why. Later white ethnologists could offer only an educated guess. Most associated the earliest Shawnees with the Fort Ancient culture, which flourished in the Ohio River Valley until the early 1600s. The Fort Ancient Indians were hunters and farmers who lived in fixed villages surrounded by earthen and log fortifications, hence the culture’s name. Whether the first Shawnees belonged to the Fort Ancient culture or lived apart in the Ohio Valley, there is no doubt of their linguistic roots. They were an Algonquian-speaking people, part of a loose amalgamation of occasionally querulous tribes with sometimes mutually unintelligible tongues that sprawled from the Atlantic sea-board, westward across the Great Lakes and Ohio Valley to the Mississippi River and northward into Canada.1


Surrounded by a sea of Algonquian-speaking peoples, the Iroquoian linguistic group was located in present-day New York. Comprised of five allied tribes, the Iroquois had a clear purpose—to accrue land and wealth at the expense of the Algonquins. An imperious, opportunistic, and fierce confederacy, the Iroquois prospered from the beaver fur trade, first with the Dutch, and later with the British. By the 1640s, however, the Iroquois had exhausted their own reserves, so they turned to a war of conquest, the likes of which the native peoples of North America had never seen. Both sides counted about 12,000 warriors, but European allies had equipped the Iroquois with guns.


The Iroquois first struck west from what is today upstate New York and southern Ontario into the upper Great Lakes region, crushing the once-potent Huron nation; then they turned south into the Ohio River Valley, depopulating the region and pushing the fragments of Algonquins west toward the Mississippi River and into the arms of French explorers and traders. The Iroquois eventually overextended themselves, as invaders are wont to do. An expanding French empire, meanwhile, provided the Algonquin refugees with firearms and helped create refugee centers on the Great Lakes. The Algonquins accepted the French as leaders of a new alliance that relied heavily on the fighting prowess of the Potawatomi and Miami tribes, which had maintained their cohesion during three decades of warfare with the Iroquois. Striking back, the French and Indian combination finally repelled the Iroquois. Recurring epidemics of European diseases ravaged all Indians but seem to have struck the Iroquois hardest, and in 1701 they made peace with the French and their Algonquin allies. A new balance of power emerged, dependent on the British and French empires for its stability.2


Never especially cohesive, the Shawnees were arguably the principal losers in the six decades of warfare. The incessant Iroquois raids forced them from the Ohio Valley. Fleeing pell-mell, they became “a restless people, delighting in war,” said an otherwise sympathetic Mahican chief who mistook their will to survive for innate belligerence. A British Indian superintendent called the Shawnees “stout, bold, cunning, and the greatest travelers in America.” The fractured, migratory Shawnees trusted to the charity of other tribes or, when that failed, their ability to fight for land.


The Shawnees’ precise movements are lost in the unrecorded history of native peoples. Our knowledge of their peregrinations depends on white sources. In 1683 several hundred tribesmen appeared at the French post at Starved Rock in the Illinois country and then journeyed east to join the Delawares in eastern Pennsylvania and Maryland. Other Shawnees drifted to the southeast and settled along the Savannah River in Georgia. Weary of combat with local tribes, after two decades this band split up. Some settled amid welcoming Upper Creek Indians in what is today central Alabama. The rest made their way to Pennsylvania. A few hundred Shawnees also lived for a time in western Virginia. By 1715 most tribesmen (perhaps 2,000) had reunited in Pennsylvania. The resident Delaware Indians and William Penn’s benevolent Quaker administration welcomed them; a resurgent Iroquois confederacy tolerated their presence.


The Shawnees’ respite proved short-lived, however. After Penn died in 1717, relations with local settlers soured. Game grew scarce. Unlicensed traders abused the fur trade upon which the Shawnees had grown dependent for European goods. They substituted addictive rum for the muskets, utensils, tools, cloth, and silver ornaments the Shawnees preferred when sober. Shawnee chiefs begged the Pennsylvania government to enforce antirum laws, but Quaker authorities were powerless to stop the enfeebling liquor trade. Compounding Shawnee woes, the pliant Delawares sold much of the land on which both peoples lived, and the Iroquois pressured them to part with the rest.3


The Shawnees and Delawares moved westward, settling first along the Allegheny River. Western Pennsylvania offered an uncertain sanctuary, however: it was Iroquois land, and the tribe treated them as vassals. The rum trade also followed the migratory tide. Shawnee chiefs again implored colonial authorities to rein in unregenerate rum dealers, hinting that they might switch allegiance to the French if their plea went unanswered. The Quaker assembly lent an attentive ear but took no effective action.4


After pillaging a few unlicensed traders, most of the Pennsylvania Shawnees moved on. As earlier related, other bands including Puckeshinwau’s gradually joined them. By 1760 most of the tribe— now reduced to 1,500—had settled at a sprawling village on the Ohio River, near the mouth of the Scioto, called Lower Shawnee Town (about 110 miles east of what is now Cincinnati). For the first time in more than a century, the Shawnees were one.5


Tribal unity, however, had never counted for much with the Shawnees. Neither did it loom large in the Shawnee identity, unsurprising in a people so long dispersed. Shawnees owed their principal loyalty to, and derived their place in society from, membership in two types of intratribal units. The first and more formal type consisted of five patrilineal descent groups most aptly labeled divisions. They may once have been separate tribes that coalesced to form the Shawnees. Whatever their origin, the divisions had well-defined responsibilities. Coequal in power, the Chillicothe and the Thawekila divisions managed Shawnee political affairs, normally by furnishing the principal tribal chiefs. The Mekoches provided healers and saw to tribal health and medicine. The Pekowis managed matters of religion and ritual. The Kispokos took the lead in war preparations and supplied tribal war chiefs. Among a people so long dispersed, divisional duties often were more theoretical than real, and divisions remained semiautonomous even when the tribe coalesced. Shawnee villages took their names from the dominant resident division, and divisions sometimes maintained their own relations with other tribes. Each division also jealously guarded its own sacred medicine bundle, which was a secret collection of animal and natural objects believed to have divine power. Mishandling the sacred medicine bundle was believed to bring on calamity.6


The second Shawnee unit was the patrilineal umsoma, literally, “good genius society.” It was less formal and more intimate than a division, which comprised multiple umsomas, or clans. Clan members shared names derived from the same animal or fauna, and Shawnee tradition records thirty-four original umsomas. By the eighteenth century they had dwindled to the following dozen: Snake, Turtle, Raccoon, Turkey, Hawk, Deer, Bear, Wolf, Elk, Buffalo, Tree, and Panther, this last of which Puckeshinwau and his children were members. Clan affiliation occasioned “strong partisanship and much pleasant rivalry.” Boasting of one’s own clan and deprecating others was a common form of jest.7


Humor came easily to the Shawnees, as it would to Tecumseh and Laloeshiga. For all their travails, the Shawnees were a remarkably resilient and optimistic people. Although they shunned vulgarity, adults enjoyed a good joke, and many a long hour was spent telling amusing stories around wigwam fires.


The Shawnees were scrupulously honest with one another. Deceit, however, was perfectly acceptable in dealings with outsiders—white men in particular. The Reverend David Jones, a Protestant missionary who visited the Ohio Valley Shawnees in 1772, gained as good an understanding of tribal character as was open to an eighteenth-century white Christian. That he converted no one to his faith did not blind him to the finer qualities of his hosts. “The Shawnees are naturally an active and sensible people [and] the most cheerful and merry people that I ever saw,” said Jones. “It appears as if some kind of drollery was their chief study; consequently, both men and women in laughing exceed any nation that ever came under my notice.” Jones admired their manner of discerning a white man’s intentions. “This I found to be a craft among them, that when they imagine anything in their own heart about you, they would say someone told them such things, and all this cunning is to find out your thoughts about them.”


A British Indian Department officer who knew the Shawnees well disagreed with Jones’s claim that they had a disingenuous streak. On the contrary, he regarded them as “generally open and frank— their affability, good humor, and vivacity render them agreeable to strangers—and they always seem to derive pleasure from . . . doing all in their power to make agreeable the sojourn of those who visit their villages.” He particularly enjoyed the Shawnee language, which he thought “very melodious and strong, well-adapted to beautify and embellish the flowerings of natural eloquence.”8


The opinions—be they disdainful or complimentary—that whites held of them were of little matter to the Shawnees. In common with other Eastern Woodland Indians, they considered themselves superior to whites in the sight of the Supreme Being, who the Shawnees called Waashaa Monetoo, variously translated as “Master of Life,” “Great Spirit,” or “Creator.” The Shawnees further arrogated to themselves the place of first among the Indians while dismissing whites as a mongrel race, the offal of creation. They did concede, however, that Indians’ allies, such as the British and the French, or those whites with whom Shawnee women intermarried, hovered somewhere above the eternal dung heap. Nevertheless, most Shawnees denied that the Master of Life had created the whites. Rather, when opening the heavenly door to place the first Shawnees on a great island, he had decried a naked, bald, and circumcised white man seated on the ground. The Master of Life told the Shawnees that a lesser spirit over whom he had no control had made the white man. The Master of Life warned the Shawnees that “as soon as they reached their island, this great white spirit would endeavor to thwart his designs.” For a time, the Stinking Lake (Atlantic Ocean) would separate the races, but eventually the whites would alight on Indian ground.9


Despite their unflattering theory of the origin of whites, Shawnee racism was not absolute. Sacred rituals permitted white captives not only to be adopted into the tribe but also to be transformed into equal beings, fully entitled to the affection, respect, and rights accorded fellow tribe members. For a white captured as a child, the adoption process was relatively benign. Jonathan Alder, seized by a Shawnee and Mingo war party in Kentucky at age nine, found the most harrowing part of his experience to have been the arduous trek to the home village of his captors. Once there, a family who had lost a son to illness claimed Alder. His new Indian mother stripped him naked, rubbed him with soap and water mingled with sacred herbs, dressed him in Indian clothing, and then pronounced him family. Alder would grow to become a friend and admirer of Tecumseh.


For white adults, particularly men, adoption into Eastern Woodland tribes was fraught with pain and doubt. The Delaware captors of colonial soldier James Smith first plucked the hair from his head, except the crown; pierced his nose and ears and inserted ornaments; and finally painted him from head to toe. Next an elderly chief led him to a group of women standing waist-deep in a river. They tried to dunk him, but Smith resisted. “No hurt you,” one of the women assured him. No longer struggling, Smith permitted them to plunge and scrub him thoroughly. Dried, dressed in Indian clothing, and repainted, Smith stood silently while a chief addressed him through an interpreter: “My son, you are now flesh of our flesh, and bone of our bone. By the ceremony, which was performed this day, every drop of white blood was washed out of your veins [and] you have now nothing to fear.”


Smith was fortunate. Although white women chosen for adoption suffered no ritualized ordeal, most men underwent a brutal practice known as running the gauntlet in order to prove themselves worthy; those wanting in courage or stamina often were beaten to death.


A gauntlet run was great sport for all but the victim. A young white captive of Blue Jacket, the Pekowi Shawnee war chief to whom an adolescent Tecumseh would turn for a mentor in war-making, witnessed one such ordeal. Every villager capable of wielding a club or a switch turned out for the affair. The Shawnees formed two rows, seven feet apart, extending 300 yards to a cabin. A strapping white man stood before them. His goal, on which his life depended, was to reach the cabin before the blows of his tormenters felled him. Down the line he ran, kicking, head punching, and generally scattering the Indians before they could beat him. At the cabin a deputation of chiefs congratulated him on his daring and welcomed the man into the Shawnee tribe.10


Horrific stories of Indian captivity abounded on the frontier, but most were embellished. After the gauntlet was run and the rituals over, the reality of adopted life was far from terrifying. Whites who were adopted into a tribe, then elected to return to the white world, needed only state their desire to their Indian kinsmen, and their wish would be granted, but few availed themselves of this option. Some had been so long among the Indians that they knew no other way of life. While traveling among the Shawnees, a New York minister met a young white woman, captured when she was an infant, who spoke no English and seemed “as contented as her Indian companions.” The minister also encountered a white teenager who not only recalled his precaptivity life but also spoke and wrote English fluently and knew the precise whereabouts of his relations, who he told the minister he would be happy to visit. Under no circumstances, however, would he trade the freedom of the forest for a life of frontier drudgery.11


Some captive whites, however, never had a chance to prove themselves worthy of adoption or to judge the relative merits of the native life. These were the unfortunates singled out for torture and execution. Like other woodland tribes, the Shawnees tortured prisoners to divine the physical and spiritual strength of an enemy or, if they prosecuted the ordeal to the victim’s demise, to avenge the death of compatriots or relatives and free their spirits from the underworld. Women and children occasionally were tortured to death, but Shawnee religion forbade rape as anathema to the Master of Life. Burning with firebrands or at the stake was the favored means of torture. The adolescent Tecumseh and the younger Laloeshiga witnessed their share of grim and gory proceedings. A sampling of the horrors will suffice to convey their almost commonplace aspect in Shawnee life.


Stumbling into a Shawnee village with the war party that took her captive, a Virginia woman saw fragments of burnt bodies dangling on poles. Then she watched the war party torment a fellow white prisoner for the pleasure of it. They first made him stand while slowly shredding his ears and slicing incisions in his face. Then the warriors bound him, rolled him in the dirt, and whipped him with small rods. Their bloodlust cooled, and the Indians spared the man’s life.


Two captive boys observed the gruesome fate of a white woman who had tried to escape. Warriors scalped her but did not immediately kill her. Instead, they tied her to the ground and then “laid burning splinters of wood here and there upon her body, and then cut off her ears and fingers, forcing them into her mouth so that she had to swallow them.... The woman lived from nine o’clock in the morning until toward sunset, when a French officer took compassion on her and put an end to her misery.”


The torture of white prisoners peaked during the frenzied border warfare of the mid-to late-eighteenth century, well before the Shawnee brothers attained adulthood. The captive farmer Peter Williamson left a particularly gruesome account of the fate of three frontiersmen. Dragged half-starved into a Shawnee town, two of them were bound to a tree. Villagers kindled a large fire around them, and after the men were scorched, a warrior ripped them open with his scalping knife and burned their entrails. Others tore flesh from the dying prisoners’ bodies. The Indians buried the third man upright in a hole that they had compelled Williamson to dig and then lit a fire. With only his head exposed above ground, the “poor creature could only cry for mercy, for his brains were boiling in his head. . . . They continued the fire till his eyes gushed out of the sockets.” Then they lopped off his head and forced Williamson to inter the remains.


Many Shawnees abhorred torture, but they generally recognized the inviolable right of tribesmen to do as they wished with captives they had seized, particularly if they or their family had lost loved ones to their enemies. Some objected, however, and occasionally a Shawnee intervened. A son of Chief Cornstalk returned from a hunt to find the villagers assembled to watch warriors roast a white prisoner to death. Diverting to his wigwam, he grabbed a pistol, concealed it on his person, and headed for the ugly scene. He arrived to find the warriors igniting the blaze. Without a word, Cornstalk’s son approached the prisoner, pulled out the pistol, and blew the man’s brains out. The warriors were furious, but no one raised a hand against the young war leader.12


Shawnee society protected other individual rights as assiduously as it did a captor’s prerogative to dispose of a victim as he saw fit. Few whites ever understood the truly democratic nature of woodland Indian government. Chiefs possessed influence commensurate with the respect they enjoyed and their ability to provide for their people. During the best of times, noted a French observer, among the Indians there existed only “voluntary subordination. Each person is free to do as he pleases.” That said, the Shawnees generally deferred to proven leaders. “Although we were absolutely democratic, believing that all men [that is, all Shawnee men] were born equal, we accorded our leaders and chiefs a deference that was spontaneous,” a warrior explained. “There was no vacillating between different leaders. Once a man established his reputation for bravery, for wisdom and discretion, he became an object of admiration and confidence. Those qualities could not be assumed—they must be inborn.”


The Shawnees recognized two categories of leaders: village chiefs and war chiefs. The former office was hereditary but could be forfeited for incompetence or loss of the people’s confidence. War chiefs earned their titles through exploits in battle. Although no formal councils existed, village chiefs typically invited the advice of respected male elders before deciding important matters.13


Also acting as a brake on the chiefs’ authority was the divine origin of Shawnee law, which the Master of Life had given to the people. He also populated the earth with manitous (lesser deities in animal form) to help the Shawnees adhere to them. There were laws defining marital relations (infrequent sexual intercourse, for instance, was thought conducive to good health), ceremonies to ensure a good hunt or bountiful crops, and a divinely ordained hierarchy of life. The Shawnees believed that deer possessed souls and eventually ascended to heaven together with their hunters. Wolves were intermediaries between man and the manitous. The spirits of all game animals had to be propitiated through prayer.14


Central to all Eastern Woodland Indian beliefs loomed the concept of power, both benevolent and pernicious. Life depended on it. Power manifested itself in every aspect of one’s existence: the ability to grow crops, to hunt without diminishing the game supply, to woo lovers, to heal the sick, to converse with animals, to commune with the Master of Life, and to influence others. Rituals and the proper care of sacred medicine bundles were key to obtaining power.


Both sexes had access to power but for different purposes. Men were hunters and protectors. Women grew crops and produced offspring. Their menstrual cycle reflected awesome forces denied to men, who avoided menstruating women. “Men with power can do anything,” a Shawnee warrior explained, “but whenever they come to a woman who is not just right, they sure are afraid of her.” A Shawnee myth told of a menstruating woman who discovered a malevolent horned serpent from the underworld. Warriors lost their battle with the beast, which succumbed only to the stained clothing of the menstruating woman. Menstrual blood trumped male war-medicine.15


Just as nature and the supernatural defined Shawnee values, so did Shawnee life and language testify to a oneness with both natural and otherworldly forces. The Shawnees expressed time in terms of the sun and the moon. Chiefs were “wise and beloved men,” wisdom being synonymous with rightness. The Shawnees accorded neighboring tribes familial rank. The Wyandots were elder brothers to the Shawnees; the Delawares were their grandfathers; the Miamis, Sauks, and Ottawas their younger brothers; the Potawatomis their youngest brothers; and the Iroquois their cousins. When friendship existed among Indian nations, the intertribal council fire burned brightly, and when discord prevailed, it dimmed. Buried in peacetime, the tomahawk was taken up and sharpened for war. Peace conferences commenced with the wiping away of tears, the opening of ears, the cleansing of hearts, and the elaborate calumet (feathered peace pipe) ceremony. Treaties were recorded with belts fashioned from cylindrical shell, porcelain, or glass beads woven together with deer sinew and called wampum. White wampum denoted peace and prosperity; black with a red hatchet painted on it indicated an invitation to war.16


The Shawnees lived harmoniously in their village world until the mid-eighteenth century, when liquor, epidemics, and war with white interlopers disrupted their equilibrium. The land was lush and lovely, the rhythm of life regulated by the seasons. Forest of maple, oak, elm, and beech blanketed the Ohio River Valley. Closely packed treetops matted with wild grapevines vitiated sunlight. No undergrowth grew in the near-perpetual gloom. Deer bounded, wolves howled, and rattlesnakes slithered through the forest; otherwise an aching stillness prevailed. Small meadows occasionally punctuated the woodland. “But once in the space of a month, did I see more of the heavens than there was to be seen through the branches of the trees,” averred a white sojourner, “and though the open space did not consist of more than twenty acres of natural meadow, I thought it a paradise.” Trackless though the forest might appear to untutored whites, its Indian inhabitants gracefully negotiated the network of trails that interlaced villages and tribes.


Shawnee villages generally were located on riverbanks or near springs. Most families lived in domed oval wigwams fourteen feet in diameter. A bark partition separated the interior into a bedroom and a combination cooking and sitting room. Made of frames of bent sapling and covered with large sheets of bark in the winter and cattail mats in the warm months, or occasionally with canvas obtained from traders, wigwams could be constructed in a few days. By the latter half of the eighteenth century, the creeping white influence could be seen in the proliferation of log huts after the frontier style, as well as in the blacksmith, trading, and gunsmith shops of resident traders. Every village had its council house, which was a wooden edifice sixty to ninety feet long used for ritual and secular gatherings and for defense.


Extensive cornfields, intermingled with patches of melon and squash, blanketed the riverbank opposite or otherwise apart from the village. Horses and cattle grazed, and hogs rooted beyond the wigwams. A large and rambunctious dog population had the run of the village. Beyond the fields and dwellings stretched the endless woodlands.17


The annual cycle of Shawnee life commenced in the waning days of September, the Pawpaw Moon. Able-bodied Shawnees departed in small parties to make winter hunting camps in sheltered valleys, leaving behind the elderly, small children, and the infirm with ample provisions for the long winter. The hunt ended in December, after which men trapped for the fur trade. In March the Shawnees returned to their villages. It was then that most births occurred and the planting season began. Women prepared the fields, but before seeds were sown, the Shawnees held the Bread Dance, their most sacred communal ritual. Supervised by a Pekowi division chief, the Bread Dance opened with a bonfire-illuminated ball game between two teams of twelve men and twelve women. (The women were permitted to advance the ball by kicking or throwing it; the men could only kick it.) After the game a dozen men departed on a three-day hunt. When they returned, an elderly orator implored the Master of Life for a bounteous crop, the general welfare of the people, and an increase in game animals. A social dance concluded the ceremony.


The Shawnees spent the summers tending crops, fishing, hunting deer, relaxing, and copulating. They generally tried to time sexual relations to prevent pregnancies during the harsh winter months, when couples were in their crude hunting quarters. Just before the final harvest in August, the Shawnees held the Corn Dance ceremony. Originally a festive occasion, by the latter decades of the eighteenth century the proceedings had taken on something of a somber aspect. Recalled a white captive who had been with the Shawnees long enough to learn their language, “A venerable Indian arose and spoke of the ‘palefaces,’ whom he represented as the first murderers and oppressors; ascribed their own sad reverses to the anger of the Great Spirit for affording these murderers an asylum on their shores; of their duty to exterminate if possible these intruders on their soil, at least to drive them south of the Ohio.” For a moment all were quiet. Then the natural Shawnee exuberance returned, and foot races and ball games superseded apocalyptic dread. The festival concluded, and the cycle of life recommenced with the winter sojourn into the Ohio wilderness.18


So it was that the Shawnees preferred to pass their days, if only the Long Knives would permit them to live in peace.
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A Turbulent Youth


As CHILDREN, Tecumseh and his younger brother Laloeshiga knew only fleeting moments of real peace. Chief Cornstalk’s murder in November 1777 heralded an era of upheaval. That winter Tecumseh’s foster father, Chief Blackfish, led an expedition of 120 warriors to avenge Cornstalk’s death. Crossing the icy Ohio River in canoes, the Shawnees filed through the Kentucky forest in a raging blizzard in search of easy victims, keeping clear of the fortified stations. They wove around a salt-boiling party of twenty-seven frontiersmen, nabbing a solitary hunter who revealed himself to be Daniel Boone, now forty-three years old. Captain Will, the Shawnee war leader who had released him a decade earlier on condition he never set foot again in Kentucky, approached Boone as though the white man were an apparition. Putting up a strong front, Boone called out, “Howdy do, Captain Will?” The Shawnee squinted at him, puzzled, then broke into a grin of recognition. “Howdy do,” he replied, then chastised Boone for having ignored his warning. Speaking to Blackfish through an interpreter, Boone confessed that he belonged to the party of salt boilers. On Blackfish’s promise to harm no one, Boone offered to help the Shawnees capture them. Blackfish was as good as his word. Not only were none of the men killed, but Blackfish also adopted the middle-aged Boone. After a mild gauntlet run, Boone underwent the adoption rituals. Blackfish treated him kindly, and Boone became a favorite with the children of Chillicothe, dispensing sugar cubes and hearty laughs that hid his homesickness.


Blackfish also brought home sixteen-year-old Benjamin Kelly. The younger Tecumseh—he was then nine—and Kelly grew close, and from the Kentuckian he likely learned his first words of English. One can easily imagine the two boys wandering around the village or traipsing through the forest, pointing out everyday objects and exchanging the Shawnee and English names for them. As their familiarity with each other’s language grew, so too did their mutual fondness. Kelly would live with the Shawnees for five years.1


Nothing in Tecumseh’s acquaintance with the youth Benjamin Kelly or with Daniel Boone and the other adult Kentucky salt boilers, who either reconciled themselves to a life among the Indians or eventually escaped (Boone absconded after five months), inspired bad feelings in the boy. But events soon would leave Tecumseh with an abiding distrust of Americans. In a lesser soul, they might have carved an indelible hatred.


The Shawnees condemned Blackfish’s raid widely—some because he had not exacted the blood revenge necessary to permit Cornstalk’s spirit to rest, others because a counterstrike by the Kentuckians seemed inevitable. Tribal factions hardened.


In 1778, the anti-American clique accepted a black-wampum war belt from the British commander at Detroit. Urged on by their British allies, then in the third year of their war with the rebellious American colonies, that September Shawnee warriors fumbled a siege of Daniel Boone’s eponymous settlement Boonesborough, losing many of their best men in the process.


The Boonesborough fiasco was the last straw for the Shawnee peace faction. Availing themselves of a Spanish grant of rich farmland west of the Mississippi River near modern Cape Girardeau, Missouri, in the spring of 1779, nearly the entire Kispoko, Pekowi, and Thawekila divisions (the latter just returned from the Creek country)—perhaps twelve hundred persons in all—abandoned the Ohio Valley. The combined population of Chillicothe and Piqua dwindled to no more than eight hundred. After less than three decades of unity, the Shawnees were again splintered.2


It was a momentous occasion in the lives of Tecumseh and Laloeshiga because Methoataske abandoned them to join the migration. Tecumpease the she-panther remained; her husband Wahsikegaboe was a Chillicothe, and the Chillicothe and Mekoche divisions had elected to stay in Ohio. Tecumseh and Laloeshiga’s ties were to the Pekowi and Kispoko peoples, and the two boys had little chance of gaining distinction among the Chillicothes and Mekoches. Methoataske had not only deserted her sons, but she had also sacrificed their patrimony.


Tecumpease and Wahsikegaboe welcomed the boys into their home, and Cheeseekau shared paternal obligations with his brother-in-law. The three adults clearly favored the athletic Tecumseh, whose magnetic personality had already won him a loyal band of boys, over the sickly Laloeshiga, who grew increasingly querulous with each passing year. An insecure little braggart who spoke of himself incessantly, Laloeshiga earned the uncomplimentary nickname Wannesga, or “Crazy Fellow.” At some point his name was changed, perhaps by his annoyed guardians, to Lalawethika. Although similar in sound to his Panther-invoking birth name, it was far from flattering. Lalawethika loosely translated as “Rattler,” connoting one who prattled. As if that were not bad enough for the boy’s fragile ego, he was hopelessly inept. One day, while trying to align an arrow to his bow, Lalawethika shot out his right eye.3


Methoataske may have hoped that Chief Blackfish would be able to shepherd his foster sons to adulthood, but the Kentucky militia was about to erase any such possibility.


Kentucky was filling up fast. With nearly three thousand men capable of bearing arms, the settlers no longer simply cowered in fortified stations while Shawnee and Mingo war parties scoured the countryside— they retaliated. In late May 1779, Col. John Bowman set out with three hundred buckskin-and-breechclout-clothed, tomahawk-and-long-rifle-wielding militiamen to destroy that “prolific hive of mischief” Chillicothe, home to eleven-year-old Tecumseh and five-year-old Laloeshiga.


Shortly after nightfall on May 29, Bowman’s unmilitary gaggle crept unseen into a clearing a stone’s throw from Chillicothe. There Bowman held a hasty council of war. The officers decided on a dawn assault and passed orders that no weapons were to be fired beforehand. The moon was in its first quarter. A dense fog hung over the village. Silence reigned until midnight, when a lone Shawnee hunter, trotting up a trail toward town, stumbled on several Kentuckians crouched behind a log. A shot rang out, the Indian crumpled, and a Kentuckian sprang forward to scalp him. “The dogs set up a great noise, and the squaws with cries and whimpering were heard to say, ‘Kentuck! Kentuck!’ ” a militiaman remembered.


There were two hundred women and children in Chillicothe that night, but few men. Some of the Shawnee inhabitants streamed into the timber or toward the river screaming; others took refuge in the council house, where two dozen warriors and fifteen boys capable of bearing arms prepared to make a stand. Emerging from his cabin, Chief Blackfish led six warriors against the attackers in the open. A bullet crashed into his kneecap as he crouched to shoot, boring its way up the chief’s leg and exiting from his thigh. Three warriors carried him back to his cabin to die. Inside the council house, a hundred-year-old medicine man chanted words of encouragement. As a promising boy with an ardent following of fellow children, Tecumseh likely was among the musket-wielding Shawnee youngsters.4


Outside pandemonium reigned. Instead of pressing their advantage, the Long Knives broke ranks. They burned cornfields and plundered the wigwams and cabins, stuffing their shirts with silver ornaments, furs, beadwork—anything that might fetch a profit. Others drove off the Shawnee horse herd. As his command disintegrated, Colonel Bowman became unhinged. “Make your escape! Make your escape!” he galloped about shouting. “I can bring to you no assistance!” Shortly after Bowman unraveled, a black woman claiming to be an Indian captive ran from the council house and told several Kentuckians that at least one hundred Shawnee and Mingo fighters were coming from nearby Piqua. No sooner had her story disconcerted her listeners than she vanished.


As the militiamen retreated, the outnumbered Shawnees challenged them to a stand-up fight at sunlight. Burdened with booty, the Kentuckians kept running. Warriors harassed them until they recrossed the Ohio River. The Kentuckians had lost at least a dozen dead; the Shawnees perhaps two or three. The psychological shock of Bowman’s raid, however, greatly outweighed the slight loss of life. For the young Tecumseh—and for the five-year-old Laloeshiga, to the extent he understood what had transpired—the trauma of both the raid and Blackfish’s death, coming just a few short weeks after their mother deserted them, must have been excruciating. They could count no home safe; no relationship secure.5


Then began an unbridled cycle of violence that would last for three years. Bowman’s incursion pushed wavering Ohio Shawnees into the British camp. With the American Revolution raging inconclusively, the English welcomed additional Indian allies. With the spring thaw, after the harsh winter confined them, the Shawnees swept into Kentucky, their messengers regularly presenting the British at their frontier headquarters of Detroit with scalps.6


Normally young boys were excluded from war parties, fourteen or fifteen being the usual ages of ascension, but these were desperate times. At twelve, Tecumseh probably participated as a menial in what was to prove the most successful Shawnee human-hunting foray ever staged in Kentucky—the destruction of Ruddell’s and Martin’s stations in June 1780.7


No longer were the Shawnees and Mingoes fighting alone. Intent on eliminating the Kentuckians and reversing the tide of war against the Americans west of the Appalachians, the British assembled at Detroit a mixed force of 150 British, Canadians, and American loyalists (Tories), together with several hundred Great Lakes Indians, principally Ojibwas and Potawatomis. In canoes and bateaux, they paddled to the Ohio River to meet the Shawnees. British commander Capt. Henry Bird wanted to attack the westernmost American settlement of Louisville—a small inland port founded in 1778 and consisting of a stockade and a few cabins—and then roll eastward, hoping to induce a panic that would cause other frontier stations to collapse. Because falling waters on the Ohio rendered an upriver trip problematic, the Shawnees insisted on striking stations closer to home. The nearest “Kentuck” post was Ruddell’s Station on Licking River. Bird agreed to attack it.8


Ruddell’s Station (thirty miles north of today’s Lexington) was a typical Kentucky pioneer bastion. Built as a parallelogram near a spring, its perimeter consisted of twelve-foot-high logs rammed side by side in a trench, with blockhouses built at the four corners to prevent Indians from taking shelter beneath the walls. Crudely constructed and sparsely furnished log cabins opened inward. Comforts were few, sanitation rudimentary. “Captain” Isaac Ruddell founded the eponymous station, reclaiming and fortifying in 1779 a settlement that the Shawnees had forced its inhabitants to abandon three years earlier. Isaac Ruddell and his wife, Elizabeth, had an infant girl; two older daughters; and two sons—Abraham, age six, and Stephen, age twelve. Old enough to heft a musket, Stephen was assigned a stockade loophole.


Stephen never had the chance to fight. Captain Bird’s Indians surrounded Ruddell’s Station before the Kentuckians, huddled indoors against a raging rainstorm, knew of their approach. The stockade was impervious to rifle shots and arrows but not to artillery. When Captain Bird ordered a six-pounder cannon rolled up to the gate, Isaac Ruddell and the forty-nine defenders surrendered on the condition that neither they, their families, nor their cattle would be slaughtered. Captain Bird wanted to comply, but he faced a dilemma common among British officers west of the Appalachians. Short on regular troops, the British needed their Indian allies in order to field an adequate force. The Indians, however, had their own playbook. Matthew Elliott and Alexander McKee—two Tory leaders serving the British Indian Department who Tecumseh would come to know intimately as an adult—remonstrated with the chiefs to contain their warriors. All seemed well until the Kentuckians swung open the doors of the stockade. “Whilst Captain McKee and I were in the fort with the poor people,” reported a horrified Captain Bird, “the Indians rushed in, tore the poor children from their mothers’ breasts and killed a wounded man, and every one of the cattle, leaving the whole to stink.” A warrior struck Elizabeth Ruddell in the face with a war club, yanked away her infant, and dashed its head against a tree, then tossed the little corpse into a roaring fire to hear it crackle. All over the fort, warriors seized Kentuckians for adoption or ransoming. Many more lives would have been lost had Bird, McKee, and Elliott not eventually succeeded in quieting the Indians. A teenaged Tecumseh had witnessed his first frenzied Indian raid.


On Captain Bird’s promise of leniency, which this time the warriors respected, the next settlement on Licking River, Martin’s Station, surrendered without a shot being fired. Bird was about to push on when word reached him that Gen. George Rogers Clark, the most capable American frontier commander, was marching with a thousand militiamen to intercept him. Leading 470 captive Kentuckians, Bird turned north under a ferocious thunderstorm to avoid Clark and make the miserable return trek to Detroit. Two white women drowned in the turbulent rising waters of Licking River, but the Indians valued their prisoners too highly to kill any more Kentuckians.9


Once across the Ohio River, the Shawnees bade farewell to Captain Bird and returned to Chillicothe with their portion of the prisoners. They included Stephen Ruddell, whom the Shawnees renamed Big Fish. The tribe had scant time to perform adoption rituals, however, as George Rogers Clark had veered toward Chillicothe. An Indian exterminator of uncommon virulence, Clark once told a British officer that “for his part he would never spare a man, woman, or child on whom he could lay his hands.”


Clark’s wrath consumed Chillicothe, though not with the finality that he had hoped. Apprised by scouting parties of Clark’s approach, the Shawnees burned the town and the crops and retreated twelve miles north to make a stand at Piqua, on a broad plain above the Mad River. The odds against them were steep. Many Shawnee war leaders and chiefs were absent in Detroit for a council with the British. Even counting their perennial Mingo co-combatants and a smattering of Wyandots and Delawares, the total force under Black Hoof—a war chief of great wisdom, humanity, and broad experience—was unequal to the task. When Clark brought his artillery into play, the Indians fled, leaving behind at least a dozen dead, most of their possessions, and the entire corn and vegetable harvest. The Ohio Shawnees regrouped in four new villages well to the northwest. The Ohio River—which the American officials, in the Fort Pitt Treaty of 1775, had promised the late Chief Cornstalk they would recognize as the border between the Shawnees and American settlers—now lay nearly one hundred miles to the south.10


The Piqua fight dealt Tecumseh’s self-esteem a hard blow. The massed Kentuckians, the boom of artillery, and the swirling flames of burning cabins and crops were difficult for even seasoned warriors to endure. When a bullet slammed into Cheeseekau, wounding him, Tecumseh flung aside his musket and bolted into the tall prairie grass. No one faulted him, and Tecumseh soon overcame the trauma. He vowed never again to run from a fight.11


Twelve-year-old Stephen Ruddell also possessed youthful courage and adaptability. Separated from parents and siblings, Ruddell was well treated by his adoptive family. He made friends easily and chose well; his closest companion was the similarly aged Tecumseh, and the two became “inseparable.” With the help of Ruddell and Benjamin Kelly, Tecumseh continued to improve his English, which he came to speak fluently enough to carry on a normal conversation. It was a skill he adroitly masked when negotiating with whites later in life; as he insisted on speaking Shawnee in formal councils, officials often did not know that he understood their language.


What motivated Tecumseh to learn English? Was it a desire to know his enemy better? To deepen friendships with his adopted white “brothers”? Simple curiosity? Most likely it was some combination of these drives, the precise mix of which probably was unknown to the confused youth Tecumseh himself, who could both befriend and kill Long Knives. He had adult examples in other Shawnees, such as Daniel Boone’s forgiving and good-humored captor Captain Will. Unlike most Indians who learned the Long Knives’ tongue, however, Tecumseh reserved his knowledge primarily for friendly and informal encounters.


Ruddell marveled at Tecumseh’s charismatic pull: “There was a certain something in his countenance and manner that always commanded respect, and at the same time made those about him love him.” To Tecumseh, affable despite his early travails, leadership came naturally. Undoubtedly Cheeseekau encouraged his younger brother to assert himself; they were, after all, the sons of a great war leader. “During his boyhood,” recalled Ruddell, “[Tecumseh] used to place himself at the head of all the youngsters and divided them. [Then] he would make them fight sham battles, in which he always distinguished himself by his activity, strength, and skill.”


There were plenty of real battles to be fought, combat into which boys were drafted to fill the thinning ranks of Shawnee warriors. At twelve, Tecumseh was already a veteran. He had lost his father to a Long Knife’s bullet and his mother to migration, fought at Chillicothe in defense of his birthplace, fled from a second fight at Piqua, and been forcibly relocated three times—ample reasons for him to hate the Americans. Nonetheless, as Ruddell discovered to his great good fortune, Tecumseh yet retained a “free-hearted” humanity. In the months to come, further tragedy and bloodshed would sound the depths of his goodwill.12
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A Nation Divided


THE SHAWNEES were formidable warriors. Both their Algonquin allies and American enemies testified to the unique fury with which they fought. All this was immensely satisfying to young Shawnee males eager to make names for themselves. Once married, a Shawnee man’s principal duty was to provide for his family, and that meant long and uncertain weeks searching for game, which had grown increasingly elusive in the overhunted Ohio country.


Notwithstanding his momentary cowardice at Piqua, few doubted Tecumseh would make a competent warrior and perhaps a solid war leader. After all, boys subordinated themselves to him in mock battles, a reliable sign of his potential. Tecumseh’s hunting skills also matured apace. That meant memorizing exacting rituals and cultivating a mystical empathy for the quarry. Tecumseh learned to purify his breath with sassafras or herbs to prevent prey from smelling him; to ask the spirits of animals he slayed for forgiveness; and to be wary of wolves, with their knack for hexing hunters whose shots at them went astray. Not that Tecumseh had much cause for worry on that score. “He was a great hunter,” declared Stephen Ruddell. And a peculiar one. If he could avoid it, Tecumseh would “never hunt in parties where women were.” That was unusual because hunting parties normally were family affairs. Even as a boy, he was happiest when hunting alone.1


Tecumseh’s love of solitude—unusual among the highly social Shawnees—would serve him well on his vision quest, the rite of passage a Shawnee male underwent at adolescence. Practiced in seclusion, it was a life-altering event calculated to prepare a boy for a man’s duty of feeding his family and defending his people. As one missionary related with singular insight,




When a boy is to be initiated, he is put under an alternate course of physic and fasting, either taking no food whatever, or swallowing the most powerful and nauseous medicines, and occasionally he is made to drink decoctions of an intoxicating nature until his mind becomes sufficiently bewildered, so that he sees or fancies that he sees visions and has extraordinary dreams, for which, of course, he has been prepared beforehand.


He will fancy himself flying, walking underground, stepping from one ridge or hill to the other across the valley beneath, fighting and conquering giants and monsters and defeating whole hosts by his single arm. Then he has interviews with the spirits, who inform him of what he was before he was born and what he will be after his death. His fate in this life is laid entirely open before him; the spirits tell him what is to be his future employment, whether he will be a valiant warrior, a mighty hunter, a doctor, a conjurer, or a prophet. There are even those who learn or pretend to learn in this way the time and manner of their death.2





Mastering the methods and sacred underpinnings of Eastern Woodland Indian war-making was no easy endeavor even for so promising an adolescent as Tecumseh; for Lalawethika, it would prove impossible, and the humiliation would cripple him as surely as his missing eye. Like other Iroquois and Algonquin tribes, the Shawnees believed that attention to ritual was as critical in warfare as it was in hunting. Strict sacrifices were needed to gain the spiritual armor without which even the bravest warrior was reluctant to fight. He must purify himself by fasting, bathing, ingesting purgatives, and abstaining from sexual intercourse, the latter to prevent an abominable clash of male and female power. Because warriors “drink a great deal of a strong concoction of roots, which infuse a spirit of energy and strength,” explained a Shawnee warrior, “if they enjoyed [sexual] connection before counteracting the effects of this medicine by some other, the consequences would be fatal to them.”3


While living among the Shawnees, Daniel Boone carefully observed the mystical outfitting of a war party.




One of the principal war chiefs announced the intention of a party to commence an expedition by beating their drum and marching their war-standard three times around the council house. On this the council dissolved, and enough warriors supplied themselves with arms and a quantity of parched corn flour as a supply of food for the expedition. All who had volunteered then adjourned and drank the war-drink, a decoction of bitter herbs and roots, for three days—preserving in other respects an almost unbroken fast . . . to propitiate the Great Spirit. During this period, they purify themselves; they were not allowed to sit down or even lean upon a tree, however fatigued, until after sunset. If a bear or deer even passed in sight, custom forbade them from killing it. The more punctual they are in the observance of these rites, the more they expect success.


While the young warriors were under this probation, the aged ones watched them to see that they did not violate any of the religious rites, and thus bring the wrath of the Great Spirit upon the expedition.


When the fast and purification was complete, the warriors were compelled to set forth, prepared or unprepared, be the weather fair or foul. Accordingly, when the time arrived, they fired their guns, whooped, danced, and sung—and continued firing their guns before them on the commencement of their route. The leading war chief marched first. The rest followed in Indian file, at intervals of three of four paces behind each other, now and then chiming the war whoop in concert.


They advanced in this order until they were out of sight and hearing of the village. As soon as they reached the deep woods, all became as silent as death.4





Warriors carried magical war bundles (medicine bags) containing stones, bits of fur, or other items revealed during their vision quest. They also appealed to the underworld, pausing at springs, which they conceived of as portals to perdition, to sprinkle tobacco and pray for victory and a safe return.5


Indians favored the ambush. It was a tactic requiring remarkable patience and stamina to execute, as a Kentuckian who evaded one discovered. The fortunate frontiersman habitually left his post every afternoon in order to hunt squirrels in a nearby hickory grove, unaware that Shawnees lay concealed beside his path behind a large log. For three days he passed the spot unmolested. On the fourth day the Shawnees shot and scalped two men and stole their horses. Ignoring the tormenting insects, relieving themselves in place, neither eating nor drinking, they had remained motionless in the tall grass for thirty-six hours.6


Indians were pragmatic fighters. Retreat before unfavorable odds “was considered rather as a principle of tactics,” said an American general with two decades of experience fighting the Shawnees. “And I think it may be fairly considered as having its source in that peculiar temperament of mind which they often manifested of not pressing fortune under sinister circumstances, but patiently waiting until the chances of a successful issue appeared to be favorable.” When attacking a large enemy, Indians generally employed a half-moon-shaped formation. In the wilderness, the tactic seldom failed.


Indians scalped fallen enemies to obtain tangible proof of victory in single combat. They took great care of these evidentiary trophies. After “lifting” a scalp, the victorious warrior scraped the fleshy side free of fat, stretched it on a hoop, then dried it over a fire. Adorned with feathers, scalps were often strung up for exhibition. One captive recalled counting eight scalps dangling from a single pole, which its proud Shawnee owner paraded about camp.7


As Tecumseh entered his teen years, the opportunity to take white scalps grew commensurate with increased American infringement on Shawnee lands.


In 1782 the Ohio Valley shuddered to the drumbeat of raids and reprisals. The British surrender at Yorktown, Virginia, in 1781, while effectively ending the American Revolution east of the Appalachians, brought only greater violence to the frontier. Warfare descended into mindless brutality. On the morning of March 8, 1782, it achieved a nadir in a horrific slaughter of Indians.


The victims were ninety-six inoffensive Delawares. Their settlement of Gnadenhutten, in eastern Ohio, had prospered under the guiding hand of Moravian missionaries. Members of a small but intensely evangelical German sect, the Moravians enjoyed success among the Indians vastly disproportionate to their numbers because they dedicated themselves heart and soul to the task and respected Indians for the people they were rather than considering them merely souls to be saved. Their Delaware Indian converts were more peaceably inclined than even white Pennsylvania Quakers, but the American Revolution placed them in an untenable situation. Hoping for friendly relations with the British and their Indian allies as well as with the Americans, the residents of Gnadenhutten instead aroused the suspicions of both. Assuming the Delaware Moravians were in league with the Americans, the British commander at Fort Detroit prevailed on the Sandusky band of Wyandots under Chief Half King to confine them while he interrogated their white missionaries. With the connivance of the Delaware chief Captain Pipe, a sworn enemy of the Moravian mission, Half King uprooted the four hundred converts of Gnadenhutten and outlying communities just before the autumn corn harvest. The hungry outcasts huddled on the outskirts of the Wyandot village while the British questioned the missionaries. Satisfied of Delaware neutrality, the British commander ordered the Indians’ release, and they were cast adrift in winter in a country stripped of game.


Some of the starving Christian Delawares returned home to salvage what corn they could from their forsaken fields. Their timing was terrible. Hostile Wyandots had just murdered several Pennsylvanians. Blaming the innocent Delawares, an armed Pennsylvania rabble descended on Gnadenhutten to exact revenge. They herded the Indians into two cabins—one for men, the other for women and children. The Indians knelt and prayed. Then the militiamen bludgeoned them to death with mallets. Congratulating themselves on a great triumph over a savage foe, the Pennsylvanians headed home, leaving behind the mutilated bodies of forty men, twenty-two women, and thirty-four children.8


That the Pennsylvanians had targeted the wrong Indians became instantly evident. Perhaps to assuage their consciences for their sorry roles in the tragedy, Half King’s Wyandots and Captain Pipe’s Delawares swooped down onto the western Pennsylvania frontier with a vengeance. In retaliation, in May 1782, four hundred untrained militiamen under Col. William Crawford left Pennsylvania to attack the now hostile Indian villages on the Upper Sandusky.


Crawford’s expedition was a bloody fiasco. Not only were the Wyandots and Delawares ready for the Pennsylvanians, but the British also supplied troops, and outraged Shawnees from the Mekoche town of Wakatomica, one hundred miles south of modern Cleveland (neither Cheeseekau nor Tecumseh was among them), helped avenge the dead. Impossibly outnumbered, Crawford held his own for two days before ordering a retreat that degenerated into a rout when his command, a blistered shell of its former self, fragmented in the forests. Most not killed in battle stumbled to safety, but Colonel Crawford and several others fell into the hands of Captain Pipe’s Delawares. They never stood a chance. Infuriated women and children beat, hacked, and clubbed to death most of the captives, kicking one man’s severed head about in the dust. Colonel Crawford, however, was singled out for special treatment. Although he bore no responsibility for Gnadenhutten, he was a high-ranking Long Knife, which made him an ideal candidate to expiate the dead. His face painted black, his body stripped naked and pinioned, Crawford endured thirteen hours of excruciating torture, prodded by flaming sticks and partially flayed, before expiring. The Delawares cut up his corpse and burned the pieces, then scattered the ashes through their village in order to free the spirits of the Delaware dead who walked among them.9
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